
THIS AGENDA IS SUBJECT TO CHANGE 
 

TOWN OF NORTHBRIDGE 
BOARD OF SELECTMEN'S MEETING 

NORTHBRIDGE TOWN HALL 
7 MAIN STREET - WHITINSVILLE, MA  01588 

March 13, 2017 AT 6:30 PM  
 
 PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  

 
I. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

A. February 6, 2017 
 

II. PUBLIC HEARING/None 
 

III. APPOINTMENTS 
B. Rochelle Thomson, Inspector of Animals/Vote to nominate  

 Note: Appointment is subject to certification by the State 
 
IV. CITIZENS' COMMENTS/INPUT / Local Business Spotlight:  Purgatory Beer Co. LLC, Linwood 

Mill/Present: Kevin Mulvehill   
 

V. DECISIONS 
C. Mumford Knights of Columbus #365 / 1) Application for a Change of Manager [James Masterson] 2) 
Application for a Change of Directors 3) Application for a change of Sunday Hours / Present: Plato 
Adams  
D. Armenian Apostolic Church/1) Request to hang a banner across Church Street from April 16, 2017 to 
April 30, 2017 in honor of “Martyr’s Day” 2) Request to hang a banner across Church Street from August 
6, 2017 to August 20, 2017 to advertise their Annual Picnic to be held on Sunday, August 20, 2017 
E. Pine Grove Cemetery deed/Elizabeth Austin [Lot No. 41, Hemlock Path North] 
F Northbridge Firefighters/Request to hang a banner over Church Street from April 30, 2017 to May 6, 
2017 to advertise the annual spaghetti supper to be held on Saturday, May 20, 2017 
 

VI. DISCUSSIONS 
G. Recreational Marijuana Establishments –Temporary Zoning Moratorium/Present: Brian Massey, 
Planning Board Chairman & R. Gary Bechtholdt II, Town Planner 
H. Economic Development Strategic Plan/Present: Brian Massey, Planning Board Chairman & R. Gary 
Bechtholdt II, Town Planner 
I. Blackstone Valley National Heritage Corridor Commission / Northbridge Green and Clean Day, April 
21 and 22, 2017 Present: Bonnie Combs, Marketing Director 
J. Purple Heart Resolution/Present: William Audette 
K. Massachusetts School Building Authority update 

 
VII. TOWN MANAGER'S REPORT 

L. 1) Community Reading Program 
 2) Annual Blackstone Valley Home & Business Expo 
 3) Local Historic District Study Committee - Property Owners Informational & Feedback Meeting 

(Thursday, March 16, 2017, 7:00 PM –Town Hall) 
 4) Senator Moore Legislative Open House   
 

VIII. SELECTMEN'S CONCERNS  
IX. ITEMS FOR FUTURE AGENDA 
X. CORRESPONDENCE 

 
XI. EXECUTIVE SESSION/6:30 PM Under M.G.L Chapter 30A, 

S21 #3 – To discuss strategy with respect to contract 
negotiations. 

Town Clerk:  2 Hard copies □ 
Town Clerk:  E-mail hard copy □ 

Web: Post time-stamped copy □ 



BOARD OF SELECTMEN'S MEETING 

February 6, 2017 

 

A meeting of the Board of Selectmen was called to order by Chairman James Marzec at 7:00 PM, 

Northbridge Town Hall, 7 Main Street, Whitinsville, MA. Present:  Messrs. Ampagoomian, Melia, Marzec, 

and Nolan. Selectmen Athanas was absent and it is duly noted.  Also Present: Theodore D. Kozak.  

 

The Pledge of Allegiance was recited by those present 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES A. December 19, 2016. A motion/Mr. Ampagoomian, seconded/Mr. Melia 

to approve the December 19, 2016 minutes as presented with the readings omitted. Vote yes/Messrs. 

Ampagoomian, Marzec, and Melia. Abstain: Mr. Nolan.  

 

Chairman Marzec announced that Item E. would be moved up on the agenda to follow.  

 

E. Tree Clearing Update/Present: Jennifer Fish, Department of Conservation and Recreation (DCR); 

David Pickart, Conservation Agent, and Joy Anderson, Chairman, Conservation Commission. Also 

present was Richard Chiras of the Conservation Commission and Guy Lachance, DCR Forester. Ms. Fish 

stated that in terms of DCR jurisdiction on this property passes to the Conservation Commission. She 

explained when harvesting is ongoing it is a time to work together and they hope to get a stronger 

relationship out of this. Selectman Ampagoomian stated that he was very displeased with Mr. LaChance, 

along with the entire process. Mr. Ampagoomian stated that the tree clearing was not forestry management, 

but instead a rape of land. Mr. Ampagoomian continued stating that wetlands, vernal pools, old growth 

trees, and historical stone walls were violated. Selectman Ampagoomian pointed out that Mr. LaChance 

stated in a letter that the project was being operated under the guidelines of forestry management. Mr. 

Ampagoomian continued describing that wetlands were not flagged, trucks were crossing wetlands, both 

of which are not permitted under the DCR guidlines. Ms. Fish explained that when someone files a cutting 

plan with DCR it is also filed with the Conservation Commission. The Conservation Commission has 10 

business days to comment on the plan, and the Commission is encouraged to comment throughout the entire 

process. Ms. Fish explained that she had entered the situation on a walkthrough and was her understanding 

that the wetland was isolated and not subject to jurisdiction, and at that point the tree cutting had gone 

beyond the cutting, which at that moment when someone goes beyond a plan, jurisdiction goes to the 

Conservation Commission. It was discussed with DEP that local jurisdiction would take over at that point. 

Ms. Fish explained that in the tree clearing process it is allowed to cut heavily, but they must show that they 

are going to regrow trees within 5 years. Ms. Fish stated that from her visit she determined that there was 

no change in land use which in turn means there is no reason to believe the trees would not regrow there. 

Selectman Ampagoomian asked the Conservation Commission if there was a regrowth plan in place. Mr. 

Pickart stated he believes they are relying on natural regeneration, which there has been some. Mr. Pickart 

explained that on the hardwoods the stumps are getting new chutes, and some white pine is becoming 

established. Mr. Pickart explained that it is not a plan per say, but instead allowing it to naturally revegetate. 

Selectman Ampagoomian explained that he believes going forward that the State should be more cognitive 

of communities and its residents. Ms. Fish explained that the purpose of the relationship between the State 

and the local Conservation Commission is for the local knowledge of the land that DCR should be relying 

on. Ms. Fish explained that if at any time the Conservation Commission contacts DCR with a concern they 

should be listening. Chairman Marzec asked if there was any way to remove the stumps and put in new 

trees, due to his concern that with all the clear cutting that went on that the trees will not grow to be long 

lasting trees. Ms. Fish explained that even though stems growing from stumps don’t look like much, the 

reason they still grow is because the root system is still alive. Ms. Fish explained that because they are 

relying on the root system of a mature tree they have a chance to grow a lot faster. She stated that a site that 

is allowed to naturally regenerate are supposed to have one thousand well-established seedling, sapling, or 

sprouts per acre within 5 years. Chairman Marzec stated that he is most concerned with the wetlands. He 

A. 



continued that remediation can be costly and given the occurrences we can’t go back as the damage has 

already been done and the time frame of occurrences seemed as though it happened over night. Chairman 

Marzec asked, hypothetically, if the owners don’t want to remediate the land what would happen then. Ms. 

Fish explained that when there is a harvest if something happened within DCR’s abilities and statues to 

bring the land back into compliance than the jurisdiction would stay with DCR. Anything that is outside of 

the ability of DCR they speak with DEP and Conservation Commissions on taking jurisdiction over it. 

Selectman Melia asked if the cease and desist was still in effect. Mr. Pickart replied yes. Selectman Melia 

asked how much time the property owners have been given to correct the issues. Mr. Pickart replied that 

there are varying deadlines for different aspects. Mr. Pickart explained the erosion control deadline was 

met with one granted extension, the mapping and assessment requirement has been delayed and no deadline 

has been set yet. Mr. Pickart explained that due to the time of year it is not appropriate for remediation, but 

the hope is for the land agent to hire a consultant for the mapping and assessment within the next month or 

so. Mr. Pickart assured the Board that they will be on top of the land agent as soon as conditions appear 

permitting. Selectman Melia asked how many violations there were in total. Mr. Pickart explained there 

were 3 total, of which is the isolated wetland, which new data suggests may not be isolated wetlands, 

extensive skidder trails, and an access road across a stream. Selectman Melia asked Mr. Lachance if he was 

overseeing the contractors who were clearing the land. To which Mr. LaChance nodded his head yes. 

Selectman Melia proceeded to ask Mr. LaChance if in one of the reports everything seemed legitimate. Mr. 

Lachance explained that the process is a very long and involved process. Ms. Fish stated that once a permit 

is granted there is no formal oversight, leaving ownest on the landowner to uphold the laws. Selectman 

Melia asked if the application was overlooked resulting in the violations. Mr. LaChance replied not in his 

opinion. Selectman Melia clarified with Mr. Pickart that the violations were not found until after receiving 

complaints, which let to the findings of 3 violations. Mr. Pickart stated that was correct and explained that 

the delineation of wetlands is not required and they rely on published maps and in this instance they did not 

accurately reflect what was actually on the site. Selectman Ampagoomian questioned at what point a 

situation would be serve enough for DCR to be involved. Ms. Fish explained that the wetland area that was 

part of the harvest was done per DCR regulations and there is nothing in the regulations for amount of trees 

to be remaining once the clear cutting is complete. Ms. Fish continued, stating that she is unsure as to if the 

issues could have been resolved or prevented through regulations. Selectman Ampagoomian believes there 

should have been some foresight as to preventing flooding and other issues. Selectman Ampagoomian asked 

what the reaction time was of the Conservation Commission. Ms. Anderson explained that once the 

complaints were received site walks were initiated to clarify what the violations were. After that the cease 

and desist was put in place. Selectman Ampagoomian asked what the community can do to prevent 

something like this from happening in the future. Ms. Fish reiterated that the communication between the 

Conservation Commission and DCR is very important and for the Conservation Commission to comment 

on any plans. Town Manager Kozak asked if there are any regulations for abutters to be notified or to hold 

a public hearing when a plan is filed with DCR. Ms. Fish stated there is a notice to abutters but not for their 

input. Town Manager Kozak stated he believes there should be an opportunity for abutters to express their 

concerns. Chairman Marzec asked if there were any plans put forth to either DCR or the Conservation 

Commission on the scope of what the plan was after the clearing. Ms. Fish stated that DCR does not partake 

in the reasoning behind why a landowner is clear cutting. Ms. Fish explained that reasoning for clear cutting 

could be for the lack of early successional habitat in the state so it is not necessarily bad. Selectman 

Ampagoomian asked if abutters should have been notified. Ms. Fish replied yes. Selectman Ampagoomian 

stated they were not notified. Ms. Fish explained abutters are supposed to receive a letter either certified or 

hand delivered, if the boundary is within 200 ft. of the harvesting and not separated by a public way. Ms. 

Fish stated that DCR would investigate the abutters notice. Mr. Brian Castell of 15 Lealand Road was 

present and stated he was an abutter and received a letter 2 weeks after the work began. Mr. LaChance 

stated that ownest is on the consultant or the agent for the property to send out the abutters notices, which 

the abutters list is received from the town. In the case of this project all of Leland Street was left off the list 

and Mr. LaChance instructed the clearing agency to not clear near those houses until the notices were 



received and the 10 day comment period was concluded. Mr. LaChance stated that more trees were left 

than what needed to be by statute.  

 

PUBLIC HEARING/None 

 

APPOINTMENTS/Resignations/None 

 

CITIZENS' COMMENTS/INPUT Local Business Spotlight: Whitinsville Christian School Present: 

Adam Meyer, Director of Advancement. Mr. Meyer stated that the Whitinsville Christian School is 

excited to announce the construction of a new preforming arts center as well as a new field house, along 

with class room additions and a covered bridge connecting the facilities. Mr. Meyer stated that they 

currently have a committee working on a rental and usage agreement to host local businesses and schools 

for use the facilities. The gym will hold over 750 people and the performing arts facility will hold over 425 

people. Mr. Meyer showed a short video of the progress of the facilities. Mr. Meyer explained that in all 

his years of work he has never seen a community come together as the community has in Northbridge. Mr. 

Meyer welcomed the community to the soft opening in May and full possession of the facilities in August. 

Assistant Athletic Director, Mr. Bajema is ecstatic to increase the volume of summer camps along with 

other youth programs. Mr. Meyer expressed great gratitude in being a part of the community and looks 

forward to sharing the facility upon opening.  

 

DECISIONS AA. Pine Grove Cemetery Deed/1) Glenn & Barbara Focht [Lot No. 45 and 46, Fir Ave. 

North]. A motion/Mr. Ampagoomian, seconded/Mr. Nolan to approve the purchase of Lot No. 45 and 46, 

Fir Ave. North. Vote yes/Messrs. Ampagoomian, Marzec, Melia, and Nolan. 2) Richard & Veronica 

Wilkinson [Lots No. 302B and 304, Woodlawn Ave. North]. A motion/Mr. Ampagoomian, seconded/Mr. 

Nolan to approve the purchase of Lot No. 302B and 304, Woodlawn Ave. North. Vote yes/Messrs. 

Ampagoomian, Marzec, Melia, and Nolan.        

 

B. Whitinsville Local Historic District Initiative/Preliminary Study Report [Present: Ken Warchol, 

Local Historic District Study Committee]. Mr. Warchol introduced Ms. Megan DiPrete of the Blackstone 

Heritage Corridor, Inc. Mr. Warchol reminded everyone that in December of 2014 a new national park was 

created, which is the Blackstone Valley National Park. Whitinsville has the honor of being one of the four 

nodes in that National Park. Mr. Warchol explained the National Park sets boundaries within a community 

to be used as guidelines to direct tours and show community commitment. The National Park seeks for a 

committee to be formed. As of right now there is a preliminary district that is by no means definitive. Mr. 

Warchol announced that on March 16, 2017 there will be an informational meeting for the owners to receive 

feedback and suggestions. Once that meeting has commenced a preliminary study report will be completed 

and submitted to the Massachusetts Historical Commission and the Planning Board, which includes 

boundaries, recommendations for the bylaw, a map of the proposed district, and a property street index. 

There will then be a public hearing for those and documents needed to go forward at Town Meeting will 

be prepared and submitted. If passed by Town Meeting Vote it will then go to the Attorney General for 

review and a bylaw will be filed with the Town Clerk and Registry of Deeds. Ms. DiPrete stated there are 

federal guidelines that involves establishing a Local Historic District. Ms. DiPrete explained that 

Whitinsville’s node of the park tells a different story than other towns. Ms. DiPrete explained that since 

Whitinsville is a part of the National Register of Historic District it allows the federal Government to offer 

resources to the Town such as grant opportunities for restoration or to support program activity. Once the 

boundary is established it will allow the opportunity to bring some money and some ranger resources and 

other park services such as studies and cultural assessments etc., of the properties within that district.  

 

Ms. DiPrete stated that there are other programs that become available if the Town sets a local historic 

district. Ms. DiPrete mentioned that the process does take a long time especially since we are talking about 

properties. She stated that there are also regulations in historic districts. She continued that any outside 



work that will substantially obstruct the structure and is visible from the street would require to go through 

a permit process. Selectman Melia stated his belief is that the anxiety will be the number one concern, and 

explained the importance of reaching out to the owners in every way possible. Selectman Melia questioned 

if any other communities have implemented no air conditioning units in the front windows. Ms. DiPrete 

replied no, there are communities that have extraordinary local regulations, because the degree of regulation 

is left to the community. Selectman Melia asked if other communities offered owners a tax break. Ms. 

DiPrete stated that she was unsure but it could be something that the Town Officials consider. Selectman 

Ampagoomian suggested that in addition to mailing the letters they also knock on doors. Mr. Warchol did 

note that the letters would be sent certified and will include a location to send feedback if they are unable 

to attend the meeting. Mr. Warchol announced that the meeting is scheduled for Thursday, March 16, 2017 

at 7 PM in the Board of Selectmen’s room. 

 

C. Fire Grant/Present: Fire Chief Gary Nestor. Mr. Nestor asked the Board for their support in applying 

for a Federal grant. The grant has been sponsored by Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) 

for a number of years. The new guidelines provide 75% funding for the first two years, which would make 

the town responsible for 25%. Chief Nestor explained the third year it would be 35% funding and the town 

would pay 65%. Once the third year is over the town would have the option to keep the positions or 

eliminate them through layoffs. Chief Nestor explained the Fire Department would need a letter of support 

and or commitment from the Board. Chief Nestor stated it would include benefits of Health Insurance and 

9% for other costs such as retirement benefits and leave benefits. The first year the town would be 

responsible for $86,000, the second year $88,000, and the third year $236,000. Chief Nestor explained the 

Fire Department has applied for this grant in the passes but have been unsuccessful. The program was 

originally designed to retain position in larger departments going through layoffs and vacancies due to 

attrition. The new guidelines, Chief Nestor explained, allow you to add additional personnel as long as you 

can defend them in your narrative of the grant application. Chief Nestor believes that it is possible, and if 

approved will be submitted on Friday. Selectman Melia asked Mr. Kozak if this grant was something the 

town could afford. Mr. Kozak stated yes, based on the percentages the first few years are affordable, after 

that it may be more challenging once the grant is concluded. Selectman Melia asked Chief Nestor why four 

employees and where would they be used. Chief Nestor answered that it would allow one person per each 

of the work groups. A motion/Mr. Nolan, seconded/Mr. Melia to move item C. Fire Grant from discussions 

to decisions. Vote yes/Messer. Ampagoomian, Marzec, Melia, Nolan. A motion/Mr. Ampagoomian, 

seconded/Mr. Nolan to provide a letter of support/commitment to the Fire Department for the Fire Grant 

application. Vote yes/Messer. Ampagoomian, Marzec, Melia, Nolan. 

 

D. Town Manager Screening Committee. Town Manager Kozak explained that the Charter and Bylaw 

states that a committee must be formed, which the Selectmen should seek various members from the 

required Boards to form the Committee. The Committee shall consist of five members. Two members shall 

be appointed by the Moderator, one member appointed by the School Committee, one member appointed 

by the Personnel Board, and one member appointed by the Planning Board. Selectman Ampagoomian 

suggested that a letter be sent to each Board stating what the requirements are by the Charter, and Bylaw 

and requesting they submit their chosen candidate to the Board of Selectmen. Selectman Melia requested 

that each committee send over their candidates before the next Selectman’s meeting on February 27, 2017. 

   

TOWN MANAGER'S REPORT F. 1) Central Mass Regional Planning/MORE Meeting - Town 

Manager Kozak stated he attended the quarterly meeting, which included an update by Sean Cronin on the 

Community Compact program. Discussion also included updates on transportation programs and regional 

services for the communities in the Central Mass area. 2) Great Hall Bid Proposals - Town Manager 

Kozak announced that the Town received bids for the Great Hall Restoration Project, which is in the final 

stages of review. The bids appear to be within our budget, including the asbestos and lead abatements. The 

project is expected to continue on schedule. 3) Public Safety Grant Approval - Town Manager Kozak 

stated that the Town was notified by the State that Northbridge was approved for a Public Safety Grant in 



the amount of $56,000 to be used for Police and Fire safety equipment. 4) Green Community Designation 

- Town Manager Kozak announced that the Town also received notification that Northbridge is one of 30 

communities that have been designated as a Green Community and will receive a grant in the amount of 

$176,515, which is to be used on energy improvements in the municipal buildings.  

 

SELECTMEN'S CONCERNS Selectman Ampagoomian 1) stated he was not happy with the 

Department of Conservation and the entire process. He stated the entire process has a terrible method, which 

could be managed a lot better. Selectman Melia 1) requested a letter be sent to representative Muradian or 

Senator Moore and Senator Fattman explaining the situation, and seek a change in the process if there is 

anything that can be done. Town Manager Kozak stated he would talk to all of the individuals. Selectman 

Nolan 1) requested someone come to a future meeting to discuss Marijuana zoning issues in regards to a 

potential article on the Town Meeting Warrant. Selectman Melia stated he had been in contact with Town 

Planner Mr. Bechtholdt, who has been in communication with the Police Chief.  

 

ITEMS FOR FUTURE AGENDA/None  

CORRESPONDENCE/None 

EXECUTIVE SESSION/None  

 

A motion/Mr. Ampagoomian, seconded/Mr. Nolan to adjourn the public meeting. Vote yes/ Messrs. 

Ampagoomian, Marzec, and Nolan.    

 

Meeting Adjourned: 8:58 PM 

  

        Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

 

        James Athanas, Clerk 

/mjw 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
LIST OF DOCUMENTATION 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN’S MEETING - OPEN SESSION 

 

February 6, 2017 

 

 
 PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  

 

I. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  

 A. December 19, 2016 

 -Copy of December 19, 2016 minutes  

 

II. PUBLIC HEARING/None 

  

III. APPOINTMENTS/Resignations/None 

 

IV. CITIZENS' COMMENTS/INPUT/ 

 Local Business Spotlight: Whitinsville Christian School Present: Adam Meyer, Director of 

 Advancement 

 

V. DECISIONS 

 AA. Pine Grove Cemetery Deed/1) Glenn & Barbara Focht [Lot No. 45 and 46, Fir Ave. 

 North] 2)Richard & Veronica Wilkinson [Lots No. 302B & 304, Woodlawn Ave. North] 

        

VI. DISCUSSIONS 

 B. Whitinsville Local Historic District Initiative/Preliminary Study Report [Present: Ken 

 Warchol, Local Historic District Study Committee] 

 C. Fire Grant/Present: Fire Chief Gary Nestor 

 D. Town Manager Screening Committee 

 E. Tree Clearing Update/Present: Jennifer Fish, Department of Conservation and 

 Recreation; David Pickart, Conservation Agent, and Joy Anderson, Chairman, 

 Conservation Commission  

   



VII. TOWN MANAGER'S REPORT 

 F. 1) Central Mass Regional Planning/MORE Meeting 

     2) Great Hall Bid Proposals 

     3) Public Safety Grant Approval 

     4) Green Community Designation 

 

VIII. SELECTMEN'S CONCERNS /No documentation 

IX. ITEMS FOR FUTURE AGENDA/None 

X. CORRESPONDENCE/None 

XI. EXECUTIVE SESSION/None 

























































































 

‐Copy‐ 



TOWN  O F  NOR T H B R I D G E ,  MAS S A C H U S E T T S  

COMMUNITY  PLANNING  &  DEVELOPMENT  
R. Gary Bechtholdt II, Town Planner 

7 Main Street Whitinsville, MA 01588 
Phone: (508) 234.2447 Fax: (508) 234.0814 

gbechtho ldt@northbr idgemass .org  

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

Date:  January 31, 2017 
 
To:  Theodore D. Kozak, Town Manager 
  NORTHBRIDGE BOARD OF SELECTMEN  
 
From:  R. Gary Bechtholdt II, Town Planner 
 
RE:  REGULATIONS & TAXATION OF MARIJUANA ACT 
  Zoning –Local Implementation   
 

As  you  know, on November 08, 2016,  voters  in Massachusetts passed Ballot Question #4  “Regulation and 
Taxation of Marijuana Act” legalizing the recreational use of marijuana (Chapter 334 of the Acts of 2016).  The 
Act,  in addition  to personal cultivation and  recreational use, established benchmarks  for  the creation of an 
oversight commission (Cannabis Control Commission), development of regulations governing the  issuance of 
licenses for marijuana establishments and the acceptance of license applications.  The Act also authorizes local 
control of marijuana establishments under specific conditions. 
 
Locally the vote for Northbridge was 4,217‐YES and 4,103‐NO (Source: Office of the Town Clerk). 
 
Attached  is  a document entitled  “The Regulation  and Taxation of Marijuana Act: A Guide  to  the New  Law 
Legalizing Recreational Use of Marijuana” prepared by KP Law  (Town Counsel).   This guide  summarizes  the 
law,  establishes  timelines  and  actions  a  municipality  may  take  to  regulate  and  control  marijuana 
establishments.   The guide also summarizes personal use and employment  issues associated with the use of 
marijuana by employees. 
 
The following is a timeline for implementation of the Act: 
 

o March  15,  2018  –timeline  for  a  three‐member  Cannabis  Control  Commission  to  adopt  initial 
regulations; 
 

o April  01,  2018  –timeline  for  the  Cannabis  Control  Commission  to  begin  accepting  specific  license 
applications; 
 

o July 01, 2018 –timeline for the Cannabis Control Commission to adopt final regulations  
 
From  a  land  use  and  zoning  perspective  the  Act  allows  for  the  local  adoption  of  ordinances  or  bylaws 
regulating  time,  place  and  manner  of  operations,  provided  such  local  provisions  are  not  unreasonably 
impractical and do not conflict with the Act.  An example would be a zoning bylaw regulating where marijuana 
establishments are allowed and establishing performance standards of approval criteria.  
 



The Act allows additional  limits, where upon  local ballot question (by vote at an election) a community may 
prohibit  operations  of  one  or more  types  of marijuana  establishments  within  town,  limit  the  number  of 
marijuana  retailers  to  fewer  than  20%  of  the  number  of  licenses  issued within  town  for  the  retail  sale of 
alcoholic beverages under Chapter 138 of  the General  Laws or  limit  the number  of any  type  of marijuana 
establishments to fewer than the number of medical marijuana treatment centers registered to engage in the 
same type of activity in town.  
 
The Act also provides  that a municipality may, upon petition of not  fewer  than 10% of  the number of  the 
voters of the town voting at the State Election preceding the filing of the petition, present to the voters of the 
town  at  the  next  State  Election  the  question  of whether  to  allow  on‐site  consumption  of marijuana  and 
marijuana products on the premises where they are sold. 
 
Implementation  of  the Act  at  the  state  and  local  levels  has  generated  significant  questions.      There  are  a 
number  of  variables  and  unknowns  at  this  time.    Fundamentally  the  timeline  for  adoption  of  the  final 
regulations by  the Cannabis Control Commission  (July 01, 2018)  creates  a  great unknown  for  communities 
looking to adopt local zoning.   
 
The Board of Selectmen will need to make a determination as to how to proceed and should seek input from 
Town Counsel on the process and procedures for such action and consideration.   The Selectmen should also 
discuss  with  its  Board  of  Health  local  controls  which  may  fall  under  their  purview,  such  as  licensing 
requirements  for preparation and sale of edibles, etc.   The Board of Health may also have some  regulatory 
oversight of the Act.    
 
If  the  Board  of  Selectmen  is  to  consider  a  temporary  zoning  moratorium  on  recreational  marijuana 
establishments  the Planning office proposes  seeking an 18‐month moratorium, as a 12‐month moratorium 
would expire in May 2018, potentially before the Cannabis Control Commission adopts its final regulations.    
 
Attached is a sample ballot question [Prohibition] and a sample temporary zoning moratorium [12‐month] on 
recreational marijuana establishments prepared by Town Counsel (KP Law).  
 
I hope this correspondence is helpful as the Board of Selectmen discusses this issue. 
 
 
Cc:  Planning Board 
  Board of Health 
  Building Department  
  Police Chief 
  /File  

 

 

 

 

 











TOWN OF NORTHBRIDGE 

PLANNING BOARD 
7 MAIN STREET 

WHITINSVILLE, MASSACHUSETTS 01588 

 
PHONE: (508) 234‐2447                                                                      FAX: (508) 234‐0814 

 

 

 
February 15, 2017 
 

Doreen Cedrone, Town Clerk  
Northbridge Memorial Town Hall, 7 Main Street 
Whitinsville, MA 01588 
 

RE:  2017 SPRING ANNUAL TOWN MEETING 
  Temporary Moratorium on Recreational Marijuana Establishments   

Planning Board –Zoning Amendment Article 
 

Dear Mrs. Cedrone: 
 

Please  be  advised  at  its meeting  of  Tuesday,  February  14,  2017  the  Planning  Board  upon motion  duly made  and 
seconded voted (5‐0) to SPONSOR the following warrant article for the 2017 Spring Annual Town Meeting. 
 

1. Amend Zoning Bylaw Chapter 173 by adding the following provisions:  
 

 Temporary Moratorium on Recreational Marijuana Establishments  
 
Please find attached for you records a copy of the DRAFT zoning amendment provision offered and prepared by Town 
Counsel (KP Law).    
 
In accordance with M.G.L. CH. 40A SEC. [Adoption or change of zoning ordinances or by‐laws; procedures] the Planning 
Board shall hold a public hearing in advance of Town Meeting.  The Board will provide its Report & Recommendations at 
Town Meeting scheduled for Tuesday, May 02, 2017.   
 
Should you require additional information at this time please contact the Planning office. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
R. Gary Bechtholdt II 
Northbridge Town Planner  
 
 
Cc:  Town Manager/BOS   

Planning Board     
Building Insp.     
FinCom       
/File 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

       

 

MEMORANDUM  
 

To:  Theodore Kozak, Northbridge Town Manager  
From:  Chris Ryan, Community Development and Planning Manager  
RE:  Northbridge Economic Development Strategic Plan  
Date:  2/21/2017 

 

 

OVERVIEW 
The Central Massachusetts Regional Planning Commission (CMRPC), in partnership with the Pioneer 
Valley Planning Commission (PVPC), is pleased to offer the Town of Northbridge planning services in 
support of an Economic Development Strategic Plan (EDSP) (2017‐2022). The EDSP will provide a 
strategic framework for the Northbridge’s economic development efforts over the next five (5) years.  
 
CMRPC and PVPC are uniquely positioned to provide this service. Our combined economic development 
experience and knowledge of the Town will enable a swift process and high‐quality final product. Our 
approach to the EDSP will center on:  
 

1) Furthering already extensive knowledge of Northbridge and the Region by immersing the 
Project Team in the existing conditions of the community;  

2) Developing a thorough understanding of what citizens and other stakeholders hold as a vision 
for the Town; and  

3) Developing an actionable implementation framework that puts the Town on a path toward 
meeting that vision. 

 
Ultimately, this robust public planning process, data collection, and analysis will yield a standalone 
economic plan and implementation strategy also suitable for incorporation into Northbridge’s Master 
Plan. 
 

QUALIFICATIONS 
As Northbridge’s designated Regional Planning Agency, CMRPC possesses a deep knowledge of the 
Town and Region. PVPC holds similar familiarity, having assisted many Central Massachusetts 
communities independently and through collaboration with CMRPC. In addition to such knowledge, our 
economic development experience is also extensive. Our respective portfolios include numerous 
economic development plans, including regional and subregional studies, economic development 
master plan chapters, and strategic plans.  Please see Appendix A for a list of relevant projects.   

 

Janet	A Pierce										 Executive	Director

Chris	J. Ryan																 Community	Development	

Mary	Ellen	Blunt							 	 Transportation	

Trish	Settles																	 	 Municipal	Collaboration	

Dianna	Provencher				 	 Business	Manager		

Denny	Drewry								 Commission	Chair

mwetherbee
Text Box
H.



 

 

TIMELINE AND MILESTONES  
CMRPC and PVPC propose the following timeline and milestones (a complete breakdown of tasks is 
provided in the Price Proposal on page 4). 

Task  Completion date 

Meet with Planning Board to review economic development priorities, past 
economic development efforts, targeted areas, and other economic 
development initiatives 

February 2017 

Facilitate a public input process that engages the community and business 
leaders and include one public planning exercises (e.g., visual preference 
survey) 

March 2017 

Interviews and focus group meetings with municipal officials, primary 
economic development stakeholders, and economic development 
organizations 

March 2017 

Data collection (secondary, municipal, and fieldwork)  March 2017‐April 2017 

Data analysis (existing conditions and strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, 
and threats [SWOT]) 

April 2017 

Prepare a framework for implementation, including goals/objective, focus 
areas, maps/illustrations, 5‐year action plan, and recommendations 

May 2017 

Presentation of results to the Board of Selectmen  June 2017 

Deliver final report  June 30, 2017 

 

STAFFING 
The following CMRPC and PVPC staff will be assigned to the 2017‐2022 Economic Development Strategic 

Plan: 

Christopher J. Ryan, Ph.D., AICP (Lead Project Manager) 

Christopher J. Ryan, Ph.D., AICP is the Program Manager of the Community Development and Planning 
Division at CMRPC. Dr. Ryan has over 30 years of professional planning experience with communities 
such as New York, NY; Brookline, MA, Shaker Heights, OH; the New Jersey Meadowlands Commission, 
and the Metropolitan Area Planning Council in Boston. He also is an adjunct professor at Clark 
University.  Dr. Ryan received a Bachelor's degree from Miami University, Masters from Georgia Tech, 
and his Ph.D. from Antioch University New England. Dr. Ryan has extensive experience in economic 
development having served as the Economic Development Director of Ayer, MA as well as served as the 
economic development manager for a number of Massachusetts communities. In these roles, Dr. Ryan 
has developed economic development policy plans, economic development chapters of master plans, 
assisted in the development of regional prioritization plans, and developed or assisted on Priority 
Development Area specific plans. He also has experience developing and updating comprehensive or 
master plans, zoning bylaws (Brookline, MA), open space and recreation plans (e.g. Peabody, MA and 
Ayer, MA), and other smart growth tools. 
 
James M. Mazik, Deputy Director, AICP 
James M. Mazik is the Deputy Director for Operations at PVPC. He provides local government and non‐
profit consulting services to public and private sector clients in several areas including grant writing, 
procurement, state and federal compliance, grants administration, general municipal 
administration/management, planning (land use, open space, ADA transition), zoning, state/federal 
liaison, budgeting, project development, project management and preparation of planning and technical 
reports. He has a Masters in Natural Resource Planning from the University of Vermont and has 



 

 

professional memberships with the American Planning Association and American Institute of Certified 
Planners. He has experience in economic target area planning and development and downtown 
revitalization. 
 
Jeffrey Bagg, Principal Planner 
Jeffrey Bagg is a Principal Planner in CMRPC’s Community Development and Planning Division. His areas 
of expertise include land‐use planning, municipal planning, and economic development. Jeffrey’s 
experience includes eight years working for the Town of Amherst. While in Amherst Jeffrey represented 
the Town of Amherst at a regional economic development group, led a bus tour as part of a developers 
conference, and helped the Town implement economic development goals from the Towns Master 
Plan.  In addition, Jeffrey worked on assisting new businesses navigate the permitting process and 
participated in the creation of a permit administrator position to streamline permitting processes for 
applicants and bridge the gap between various town departments. 

Lawrence B. Smith, Senior Planner 
Lawrence B. Smith is a Senior Planner at PVPC, specializing in land use and zoning. In this capacity, he 
provides technical planning and zoning assistance to 43 communities in Western Massachusetts, 
develops strategic master plans for local communities, assists communities in public outreach and 
education on planning issues, and assists in the development of the regional land use plan and smart 
growth tool kit. Prior to joining PVPC Mr. Smith served as Director of Community Development for the 
City of Westfield, Planning Consultant for the Town of Pelham,  and Community Development Director 
for the Town of Palmer, among other positions.  
 
Lori A. Tanner, Senior Economic Development/ Policy Analyst 
Lori A. Tanner is a Senior Economic Development/ Policy Analyst at PVPC. In this role Ms. Tanner 
manages and administers a variety of economic development initiatives, including PVPC’s 
Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy (CEDS), Community Development Block Grants (CDBG), 
and creative economy and scenic byways studies. Prior to joining PVPC and rising through its ranks, she 
served as Consultant to the American Farmland Trust in Northampton, Consultant to the Town of 
Sunderland, and held a variety of positions of the Dutchess County Department of Planning and 
Economic Development (Poughkeepsie, NY).  
 
Erica L. Johnson, AICP 
Erica L. Johnson is a Senior Planner/ Manager in the Community Development department at PVPC. She 
has experience in grant writing and program management including Community Development Block 
Grants. He has worked with the MA Department of Public Health, MassWorks Infrastructure Program, 
and Department of Homeland Security. Interagency Council on Housing & Homelessness, and the 
Federal Highway Administration – National Scenic Byway Program and the MA Cultural Council 
 
Molly Goren‐Watts, MPPA 
Molly Goren‐Watts is a Principal Planner & Manager of Regional Info & Policy Center at PVPC. She 
collects, maintains and analyzes regional datasets to help direct regional planning strategies, grants and 
development projects. In this position, she organized and currently leads a national award winning 
regional data sharing partnership with economic development and workforce organizations to enhance 
efficiency of access to relevant data for analysis and strategic planning. Additionally, she has a Master’s 
in Public Policy and Administration from the University of Massachusetts Amherst. 
 
Dominique DuTremble, Assistant Planner 
Dominique  DuTremble  is  an  Assistant  Planner  in  CMRPC’s  Community  Development  and  Planning 
Division.  As  CMRPC’s  Economic  Development  Program  Coordinator,  she  specializes  in  commercial 



 

 

district development, the creative economy, and community engagement. Since joining CMRPC in 2013, 
Ms.  DuTremble  has  assisted  communities  with  creative  placemaking,  agricultural  development 
initiatives,  municipal  finance,  priority  development  area  studies,  and  a  host  of  other  economic 
development‐based  projects.  She  has  five  years  of  public  sector  experience,  including  work  at  the 
municipal, federal, and quasi‐public  levels. Ms. DuTremble also worked as Interim Town Planner  in the 
Town  of  Dudley  in  2016  as  part  of  CMRPC’s  Local  Technical  Assistance  (LTA)  Program.  She  holds  a 
bachelor’s degree in Political Science and a Master’s Degree in Community Development and Planning, 
both from Clark University.  
 
Emily Glaubitz, Intern 
Emily Glaubitz is an intern with CMRPC’s Community Development and Planning Division. With a B.A. in 
Geography and a M.A in Community Development and Planning (both from Clark University), Ms. 
Glaubitz is a versatile planner versed in economic development, public health, and mapping. Her 
expertise includes zoning, community development finance, rural development, and GIS.    

PRICE PROPOSAL  
This will be a 312.5 hour project, roughly allocated as follows:  

Task     Hours 

A 
Orientation  
(18 hrs) 

  

Preliminary research   5 

Meet with Planning Board to review economic development priorities, past 
economic development efforts, targeted areas, and other economic development 
initiatives  

6 

Travel   7 

B 
Public Forum 

(50 hrs)  

Event planning   10 

Event marketing (outreach)  10 

Mapping  10 

Event and facilitation   10 

Travel   7 

Transcription (summary)  3 

C 
Interviews and 
Focus Groups 

 (33 hrs) 

   

Elected/ appointed officials   10 

Primary economic development stakeholders  group meetings  10 

Blackstone Valley Chamber of Commerce  1 

MA Office of Business Development (MOBD)   1 

Mass Development  1 

Travel   5 

Transcription (summary)  5 

D 
Data Collection  

(23 hrs) 

 

Secondary data  collection, including local, regional, and state demographics, 
workforce and employment statistics,  industry trends, past plans, and other 
topics  

7 

Primary data collection, including assessor’s information, accounting data, 
municipal procedures, zoning, and other sources 

7 

Visually assessment of retail mix, downtown conditions, vacancy rates,  
walkability,  and other conditions   

7 

Travel   2 



 

 

E 
Analysis  
(79 hrs) 

Based on interviews, data collection, and reviews of existing and past plans, write 
up existing conditions analysis 

15 

Identify preliminary issues, opportunities, threats, strengths and weaknesses to be 
developed further in SWOT analysis. 

10 

Map existing conditions  12 

Evaluate preliminary strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats   20 

Finalize SWOT and develop supporting narrative  15 

Review draft analyses with Committee*  2 

Make edits to draft analyses   5 

F 
Framework for 
Implementation 

(78 hrs) 

Develop framework for implementation, including goals and objectives, a 5‐year 
action plan, and recommendations 

55 

Review draft framework with Committee*  2.5 

Travel   2 

Make edits to draft framework   14 

Review edits with Committee  2.5 

Travel  2 

G 
Final Presentation 
to the Planning 

Board 
(26 hrs) 

Presentation planning and preparation  13 

Implementation   6 

Travel   2 

Event summary  5 

H 
Production, including procuring printing services  5.5 

Prepare final report 
(5.5 hrs) 

Total Hours  312.5 

 
 

*Assumption of project committee being established. 
 
Budget: 

 
Total budget: 312.5 hours at $80/ hour ($25,000) 

    

DELIVERABLES 
 

a. Three (3) or more hardbound/spiral bound (or similar) colored prints of the completed 
Economic Development Strategic Plan; 

b. One (1) flash drive containing (1) electronic‐version of the approved EDSP on CD including 
additional files of any imagery, photographs, diagrams, charts & mapping; and 

c. One (1) formatted/bookmarked PDF of the final EDSP 



 

 

 

CONCLUSION 
Given our combined experience and knowledge of the Town, we are confident CMRPC and PVPC can 

provide Northbridge with an Economic Development Strategic Plan swiftly, on budget, and of the finest 

quality. Please feel free to contact us with any questions or to discuss your project needs. 

EXECUTION 
 

We, the undersigned, do hereby agree to the terms of service outlined in this document: 

 

 

____________________________________________________ 

Theodore Kozak, Town Manager 

Town of Northbridge, Massachusetts 

 

 

Date:__________________________ 

 

 

 

Janet A. Pierce, Executive Director 

Central Massachusetts Regional Planning Commission 

 

 

Date:__________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

APPENDIX A, RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE  
The following list provides a snapshot of relevant CMRPC and PVPC project experience 

Regional and Subregional Comprehensive Plans 

 Blackstone Valley Freight Rail Planning Study and Feasibility Analysis‐ CMRPC (2016) 

 Driving Economic Growth Through Freight–based Economic Development: The Worcester 
Regional Freight‐Based Economic Development Site Selection Project‐ CMRPC (2015) 

 Rural 11 Comprehensive Prioritization Plan‐ CMRPC (2013) 

 Blackstone Valley Comprehensive Prioritization Plan‐  CMRPC (2012) 

 Central 13 Comprehensive Prioritization Plan‐ CMRPC (2012) 

 495/Metrowest Compact‐ CMRPC (2011) 

 Greater Worcester Area Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy ‐ CMRPC (2000‐2015) 

 Pioneer Valley Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy‐ PVPC (1996‐2016) 

 Pioneer Valley Plan for Progress: Economic Strategies for the Region 2015‐2025‐ PVPC (2015) 

 Town of Agawam Economic Development Plan‐ PVPC (2010) 

 Rethinking Downtown Westfield: Comprehensive Downtown Housing and Economic 
Development Action Plan‐ PVPC (2009) 

 A Demographic and Economic Analysis of the City of Springfield‐ PVPC (2006) 

 Pioneer Valley Plan for Progress: Economic Strategies for the Region‐ PVPC (2004) 

 Ware Strategic Plan (2001) 

 Northampton‐Easthampton Economic Development Strategy (1998) 
 

Master Plans with Economic Development Chapters 

 West Brookfield Master Plan‐ CMRPC (currently underway) 

 Mendon Master Plan‐ CMRPC (currently underway) 

 West Boylston Master Plan Update‐ CMRPC (2014) 

 Auburn Master Plan‐ CMRPC (2012) 

 Paxton Master Plan‐ CMRPC (2008) 

 North Brookfield Master Plan‐ CMRPC (2007) 

 Southampton Master Plan‐ PVPC (2013) 

 Hatfield Master Plan‐ PVPC (2012) 

 Monson Master Plan Supplement‐ PVPC (2012) 

 Hatfield Master Plan‐ PVPC (2001; 2012) 

 Jacob’s Ladder Trail Corridor Management Plan II‐ PVPC (2009) 

 Route 112 Scenic Byway Corridor Management Plan‐ PVPC (2009) 

 Easthampton Master Plan‐ PVPC (2008) 

 Granby Master Plan‐ PVPC (2008) 

 Executive Order 418 Community Development Plans for 32 communities in the Pioneer Valley 
(oversaw 14 by consultants; PVPC did 18)‐ PVPC (2003‐2004) 

 Ware Strategic Plan‐ PVPC (2001) 

 Holyoke Master Plan‐ PVPC (1999) 

 Southwick Master Plan‐ PVPC (1997) 

Other Economic Development Studies 

 Westborough State Hospital Priority Development Area Study‐ CMRPC (2016) 

 Worcester Union Hill Design Guidelines‐ CMRPC (2016) 

 Downtown Worcester Parking and Transit Study‐ CMRPC (2016) 



 

 

 Town of North Brookfield: Downtown Central Business Priority Development Area Study‐ 
CMRPC (2015) 

 Grafton Worcester Street Commercial Corridor, Visual Preference Survey‐ CMRPC (2015) 

 Millville Town Center Opportunities & Constraints Study‐ CMRPC (2015) 

 Paxton Village Center Overlay Visual Preference Survey‐ CMRPC (2014) 

 Auburn and Oxford Freight Rail Pilot Study and Feasibility Analysis‐ CMRPC (2014) 

 Millbury and Sutton Route 146 Priority Development Area Study‐ CMRPC (2014) 

 Town of Shrewsbury – Glavin Center Priority Development Area Study‐ CMRPC (2014) 

 Gambling on Development: Warren Casino Study‐ CMRPC (2010) 

 Sturbridge Route 20 Commercial Tourism District Study‐ CMRPC (2009) 
 

 Economic Impact of Westfield State University‐ PVPC (2016) 

 Easthampton City Arts Project Evaluation Report‐ PVPC (2012) 

 Data Digest: The Economic Impact of Human, Social, and Health Service Organizations in the 
Pioneer Valley‐ PVPC (2011) 

 Data Digest: The Creative Economy of the Pioneer Valley‐ PVPC (2009) 

 2008 Major Employers‐ PVPC (2009) 

 2003 Major Employers Inventory‐ PVPC (2003) 

 
 










